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In memory of G







The officer was a young man, Joseph Boxhall, Fourth Officer of the Titanic. I took him up to the bridge, to report to our Captain.


Without preliminaries, Rostron burst out, excitedly: ‘Where is the Titanic?’


‘Gone!’ said Boxhall. ‘She sank at 2.20 a.m.’


In the moment of stunned silence that followed, every man on the bridge of the Carpathia could envisage the appalling reality, but not yet to its fullest extent. It was now 4.20 a.m.


Boxhall added in a voice of desperation: ‘She was hoodoo’d from the beginning …’


Carpathia Second Officer James Bisset,


Tramps and Ladies, p. 286




Prologue


On the day the Titanic left Southampton, first-class passenger Mrs Henry B. Harris encountered a man in a corridor as the ship was negotiating the Solent, the body of water between the English mainland and the Isle of Wight.


The stranger addressed her, asking: ‘Do you love life?’


Mrs Harris nodded, stupefied.


‘Well then, get off this ship at Cherbourg,’ he advised, ‘if we get that far! That’s what I’m going to do.’ With that, the unknown approacher hurried down the passageway, away from the startled woman.


Irene Harris, who would suffer the loss of her Broadway producer husband on the voyage, recounted this story the moment she made landfall – on another ship – and told it frequently in the years thereafter.1 But why would any individual urge someone to get off at the earliest possible moment with the voyage barely begun?


Who was this peremptory person – could it have been a fellow passenger? Mrs Harris mysteriously never made this clear. And why was the man so agitated and importuning?


There had been, admittedly, a little excitement at the start of the maiden departure, when the American Line’s New York snapped her ropes by dint of her nascent rival’s suction, nearly colliding with the slowly outgoing Titanic. But despite this little bit of drama, no passenger booked through to America disembarked in Cherbourg, only those who had booked the short cross-channel trip. In Ireland, again, only the expected offload went down the gangplank to the tender, including trainee priest Francis Browne (with his subsequently famous shipboard snaps). No short-hop travellers might have been expected to fret, as they were getting off so soon – they might rather suppress their discomfort, no matter how eerie they found the ship. It would thus appear that the prophet of doom failed to follow his own advice.


So was Mrs Harris making it all up about the frazzled man fixated on escaping the Titanic at the first opportunity? Or did an actual incident lodge in her mind, one that ended up being frequently described because it took on sepulchral significance in light of later events?


And yet, if it were not a fellow passenger who urged her to ‘Get off this ship at Cherbourg’ if she loved life, but instead a member of the crew, the perplexing incident becomes more plausible and more meaningful. What if he were an insider, anxious about a continuing and out-of-control situation below decks that had not been quelled since Belfast, wherefrom the ship had sailed over a week ago? He might then indeed have reason to hurry, rather than saunter, down a passageway. Perhaps the whole snatched conversation was born out of a nagging sense of a threat to the success of the maiden voyage.


Irene Harris always used the word ‘man’ in her story, never specifying passenger or crew. Perhaps the individual actually straddled the two. The Titanic, like her sister ship Olympic the year before, carried a team of technical experts from the builders, Harland & Wolff, to sort out operational snags on the maiden voyage. Members of this nine-strong ‘guarantee group’ were listed as passengers, not crew, on the ship’s papers. One of their original ten, a manager of interior decoration named Joseph Thompson, had disembarked at Southampton on arrival from Belfast. The remaining shipyard men wore civilian clothes. Six were accommodated in second class, with three in first.2 One of the first-class trio just might have had words, however gloomy, with wealthy Mrs Harris. The pledge that the man himself would get off in Cherbourg could have been added for emphasis and to help convince his listener, even if the speaker were in fact wedded through work to sailing all the way.


These shipyard men already possessed much inner knowledge. They were intimates of the debutante steamer’s deepest secrets.
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Outward Bound in April


A Cautionary Tale


A stately ship stood dockside on an April day in England. Wisps of funnel-smoke were panting steadily in the crisp morning air and the transatlantic passenger vessel seemed as if she were already straining to start.


On the quayside all was busy with last-minute sailing preparations, not least among the arriving swarm of passengers. Many emigrants were set to board, buoyant themselves, optimistically bent on a fresh start in the New World. They included a significant component of Russians and Armenians, the majority of them Jews fleeing pogroms for the promised peace of the United States. Also embarking was a party of returning American cattlemen. The ship’s four masts stretched impressively above them, and she was a striking 461 feet long – quite a sight to eyes unaccustomed to the exceptional Cunarders Mauretania and Lusitania, to which there was as yet no equal. She was the steamship Cairnrona and the year was 1910.


On this trip the liner would carry 879 passengers, yet she only had 800 lifebelts. Thus, if any disaster should occur, some would have to go without (including all the crew). As well as this, the vessel carried just ten lifeboats, capable of accommodating 500 persons, and two smaller craft, sufficient to hold but a further thirty-two.1


On 6 April the Cairnrona slipped her moorings at the Surrey Commercial Dock in Rotherhithe, London, bound for Portland, Maine, after being inspected and cleared by the Board of Trade. The Cairn Line steamer was under the experienced captaincy of Charles Thomas Stooke, commanding a crew of no fewer than 116 hands. That made the entire complement on board just five short of 1,000 souls.


The Cairnrona proceeded to sea. Within a short time the ship began to be enveloped by the slow descending shades of night and was presently out of communication with the coast. Yet at 7,682 tons, she was of sufficient size and importance to warrant carrying a wireless set, one of a tiny minority of shipping to do so at the time. She negotiated the narrow straits of Dover in the early hours, sighting the lights of other steamers off her port side, towards the French coast. Soon she was fully into the heavily trafficked English Channel and the lookouts strained their eyes for potential hazards.


The ship’s chronometer limped into Thursday 7 April. At length, the lights of Folkestone were sighted on the starboard side, and next the small seaside settlement of Dungeness swam into view, leading on to the twinkle of battle-famed Hastings, until all eventually fell away into the ship’s wake. It was now that the rosy glow of a welcome dawn appeared on the port side of the ship, the deck fixtures growing in definition as darkness cleared, but still too early for the passengers to bestir themselves.


The officers noted with satisfaction the Eastbourne lighthouse to starboard, at the base of Beachy Head, its rhythmic two flashes every twenty seconds so familiar to them. Only eight years in existence, this edifice of Cornish granite was already proving its worth. By now some emigrants were up and active, enjoying the early seascape. Breakfast had begun at 5 a.m., and early risers were keen to escape the claustrophobia below decks.


Then, at precisely 6.15 a.m., a powerful explosion tore through the silence of the morning, blowing off a forward hatch and killing assistant steward Frederick Longhurst. It grievously maimed a strolling pair of third-class passengers and severely injured three further members of crew. A swathe of more minor injuries were inflicted, as the blast reverberated to the far-off chalk cliffs. Two further concussive blasts followed, the force of which smashed into the women’s quarters and blew over bunks, while sections of hatch timber struck several passengers.


Then, after a numbed pause, a tremendous wail arose. From the deck came a shout that a baby had been blown out of its mother’s arms and overboard. The shout was ignored, however, because panic had broken out throughout the ship. Emigrants ‘ran about the decks wringing their hands and hindering the officers of the ship in the efforts they were making for the safety of all’. One man was seen ‘rushing madly with his head ablaze’.2 A woman, whose clothes were on fire, begged to be thrown into the sea.


A stunned Captain Stooke burst from his quarters and took over from the officer of the watch as crew rushed to the aid of the wounded. Stooke soon received reports of structural damage, with smoke issuing in quantities from the hold. He heard one alarming dispatch that four passengers, afraid for their lives, had already jumped overboard.


Herschel Schenef, a Russian, recalled how he fled onto deck from his steerage berth. He could see thick black smoke billowing from the vicinity of the engine room and heard a crackling sound. Next came ‘a terrible rush for the gangway’. Soon he saw sailors brandishing boathooks ‘in order to keep back the crowds of excited passengers [from the lifeboats]’.3


By this time the wireless operator was transmitting the CQD (‘Come quickly, danger’) signal, requesting urgent help and giving the ship’s position. The message was picked up at Dover and two tugs were promptly dispatched. The Liverpool steamer Kanawha was already in view, and within a few minutes was turning to the stricken ship’s assistance, while a wireless response came flashing in from the unseen Swedish steamer Upland.


Captain Stooke ordered life rings thrown and a lifeboat lowered for those already in the sea, directing further that all boats be uncovered and prepared for launch. As the boats were cleared and swung out, the master ordered they be loaded and, in the age-old tradition of the sea, intoned: ‘Women and children first.’


Despite this injunction in favour of those considered weak and helpless, ‘several men endeavoured to thrust them aside, but were prevented by the crew,’ said The Times. The British sailor noble once more. Emigrant Schenef saw one of his fellow Russians attack a crewman, with others joining in. ‘There was a general fight. Women also engaged in the struggle.’4


English passenger William Forster, emigrating with his wife and three children, saw things sternly. ‘There was no justification for the way they acted,’ he said of foreigners in the fray. ‘They would not listen to reason and to see them fighting with the women and children to try and get into the boats was enough to make one’s blood boil. I gave the crew what little help I could in beating back these men, and we succeeded in getting the women and children away first. The crew acted splendidly; but for their pluck there might have been much loss of life.’5


The panic gradually subsided. With order somewhat restored, the lifeboats were launched and those who had earlier gone overboard were hauled in from the sea, all still alive, if exhausted. They now steered for the Kanawha, ever closer at hand, whose men were opening gangway doors in the ship’s hull and deploying ropes and ladders.


Back on the wounded vessel, a crewman’s hand had been mutilated by the explosion and it was already lying in a bucket, severed by the swift chop of Dr Heron, the Cairnrona’s surgeon. Nearby, a Polish woman lay paralysed on a stretcher, victim of a suspected spinal fracture. Outside in the doctor’s corridor was a piteous line of groaning burn victims, two screaming children already treated and bandaged, and several crew also needing assistance.


Hoses had been playing on the angry blaze in the bunker, and now the steamer Upland and a trawler named King Fisher were on the scene. The transshipment of passengers got underway in a more or less organised manner over a matter of hours with the sea mercifully calm. Luckily the Cairnrona stayed afloat. Eventually these passengers were all brought ashore, the most severely injured being landed first and rushed to hospital. The crippled ship staggered back to Dover, arriving late that same night. Over 100 of her passengers would refuse ever to go to sea again.


An official inquiry was convened. It determined that the explosions, three in total, were ‘probably’ caused by hot embers in a coal bunker, having drifted there when fires were drawn from furnaces after completion of the last voyage. This finding seems highly unlikely, however, as somehow those embers would have had to sustain themselves until tons of fresh bunker coal came hurtling down on top of them in preparation for the next trip. It was also found there had been no inspection of the starboard bunker prior to departure, and its condition was not known to the master or chief engineer, the latter thus not having taken ‘proper and sufficient measures’ to guard against danger.6


As the ship sailed, the report continued, there was a slow combustion and generation of gas in the bunker. The subsequent working out of coal for the furnaces allowed air to be admitted. Combining with the gas, it became an explosive mixture. When the coal got low enough to admit air to the seat of the hidden fire, ‘a flame or spark broke out which ignited the gas’, the report found. It would have all happened in a fraction of a second.


The chief engineer was severely censured. But he staunchly maintained he had indeed inspected the bunker prior to coaling and found it in a proper state – as had a foreman from the supplying colliers. This would appear to implicate the embarked coal itself. Yet no proper consideration was given at the inquiry to the very real possibility of spontaneous combustion, even though it was heard that an undesirable mixture of fractious American and Scottish coals had been loaded. This auto-ignition idea was briskly dismissed, the conclusion already forming in the court’s mind that hot ashes entering the starboard bunker had been the author of the calamity. This was based on a ridiculous allegation that a Portuguese crewman had failed to dampen raked-out coals after the previous arrival. But that man insisted he had wetted the ashes as ordered, and the task had in any case been on the port side. No information was provided as to how embers could enter a far-off bunker and last for days to await an influx of fuel.


Nonetheless, the catastrophe had occurred, and it was down to a bunker fire, whatever the cause. In August the formal investigation issued findings. For all masters and shipping companies there was a dire and forbidding stipulation in paragraph 5:


The vessel ought not to have taken to sea with the bunker coal in such a condition.


The judgement was widely circulated, by way of precaution. Yet two years (and three days) after the Cairnrona diced with disaster, the mighty newcomer RMS Titanic – with staggeringly vast bunkers – cast off her moorings for a similar crossing of the Atlantic. And her coal was arguably in even worse condition.
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The Price of Unrest


A National Coal Strike


No fewer than twenty-nine boilers, each weighing over ninety tons, were laboriously installed by crane into the new Harland & Wolff hull at Belfast, yard number 401. That overwhelming mass of metalwork, over 2,600 tons in total, delivered 159 furnace mouths. It would need a small army of firemen to feed them all – together, of course, with thousands of tons of coal.


John Kelly & Company, coal merchants, made several deliveries prior to the Titanic’s departure in 1912 for her sea trials in Belfast Lough and transfer to Southampton. The final supply was made on 25 March, a week before the off, when 200 tons of Scottish steam coal was chuted into the ship’s innards. This fuel cost £350, an exorbitant thirty-five shillings per ton. This fee is worth careful consideration, because the price of a ton of liner coal had been less than £1 (twenty shillings) in February 1912. It had thus jumped by 75 per cent in the space of one month. And at the beginning of the year it had been just sixteen shillings a ton for Best Welsh, which had fetched fourteen shillings the previous September.


The reason for the increase was the first national coal strike ever called across Britain. Miners had long been feeling the strain of their dirty and dangerous calling, with its low wages, claustrophobia and long-term health implications. Even then it was recognised that ‘miner’s lung’ cut lives short. A number of the surviving firemen from the Titanic, for example, had lifespans only into their prime. (Leading hand Fred Barrett, who gave evidence to both subsequent inquiries, died at forty-eight from tuberculosis, while fireman John Priest succumbed to pneumonia aged forty-nine. Fred Sheath died of asthma at forty-two, and George Combes from TB aged thirty-eight.) Pit barons had increasingly been attempting to shave money from their operating costs, often by playing off one colliery or mine against another, and it was estimated that steadily rising shop prices had eroded workers’ purchasing power by 10 per cent in recent years. Minor disputes had broken out in 1911, including one that briefly laid up the Titanic’s newly operational sister ship Olympic, but they all failed; in the latter case due to blackleg (opportunist) labour brought in from the northeast and sent to Southampton under police protection.


Finally, however, the men everywhere had had enough. A national ballot of miners commenced on New Year’s Day 1912, and a proposal for all-out strike action was resoundingly endorsed by a margin of four-to-one when votes were counted on 12 January. If there had been an expectation of the employers coming to the table, however, it was misplaced. Instead, backed by a virulently anti-union national press, the malcontents were warned that their ‘sabotage’ of homes and industry could not succeed and would not be tolerated. The Pall Mall Gazette accused them of ‘blackmailing the nation’. Nevertheless, the strike went ahead.


Beginning in Derbyshire from mid-February, and spreading immediately to Wales and Scotland, hundreds of thousands of miners stayed away. Pit after pit, working after working fell idle. Soon over 800,000 men were withholding their labour. With the necessary breaking, chiselling and quarrying not performed, and vital ‘black diamonds’ not reaching the surface, the national implications soon became obvious as hardship deepened across the land. After all, coal was the vital ingredient for cooking and heating in nearly every home at the time, with electricity or gas still bit players, usually reserved for the upper classes and not even dominant there. As a result, many families suffered during this period, devoid of their source of fuel.


‘No longer do men with few ideas talk on the subject of the weather and crops,’ wrote The Sketch. ‘The typical clubman no longer asks his friends whether their gout or rheumatism is better, and how this damp weather affects their bronchial tubes. “How much coal does your cellar hold?” is the question now of first importance; and “How much did you pay a ton?” comes next.’1 This was because, understandably, the price of coal soared in the wake of the strike. Poverty pushed the scarce commodity out of reach for ordinary workers, with many workplaces soon left with no option but to close for the duration. Ireland – geologically short of mineral wealth in any case – was as paralysed by the dispute as the rest of the United Kingdom.


The worsening situation alarmed the government. On 20 February Prime Minister Herbert Asquith summoned both the pit owners and the Miners’ Federation of Great Britain to a crisis meeting. However, the hostile press helped to ensure the conference failed. Some newspapers called for troops to be sent in.


February passed into March, and the suffering grew worse. Rail services were severely curtailed, hampering commuters attempting to get to those workplaces that were still open. Occupancy restrictions were lifted on trams and trains, and top-hatted gentlemen were depicted in the popular prints as packed into the guard’s van.2 Food shortages became a reality, with wagons of goods unable to roll. As a consequence, producers scaled back their output, and so one problem compounded another.


The Times decided that the strike was ‘the greatest catastrophe that has threatened the country since the Spanish Armada’, although this time English ships were unable to put to sea.3 A Conservative MP called for food rationing and the imposition of martial law to defeat ‘socialist’ agitation. There were thefts and tragic fatalities, with children diving into canals to look for lost lumps from barges, and a deep gloom pervaded parliament as a result of the ‘overwhelming tragedy of the coal strike’.


One cartoon showed Asquith as the embodiment of capital, grappling with a representation of labour. They were portrayed as roped-together moun­taineers on the edge of ruin. John Bull, connected in turn, was shown clinging to the cliff face, saying: ‘If you two fellows keep quarrelling you’ll both go to destruction, and what’s more you’ll pull me down with you.’4 Another carica­ture featured John Bull tugging the sleeve of a policeman as a runaway horse and lorry (marked ‘coal strike’) careered towards the grocery barrow of British Trade & Industry. ‘I don’t care how you stop it, but stop it you must,’ Britain’s everyman demanded of Constable Asquith. ‘I can’t have my whole bloomin’ apple cart upset.’5


Eventually the cabinet met (by candlelight, it was claimed) and caved in. A government proposal setting out somewhat improved minimum wage terms for miners, named the Coal Mines Bill, was introduced on 19 March. However, it was as economical as possible in its surrender to organised labour, meaning many miners were unsure whether it represented any kind of victory at all. Nonetheless, the union leadership accepted the parsimonious deal on offer, leading to the renewed balloting of members. There were still rejectionist pits, but the national picture soon clarified into one of grudging acceptance. The strike came to an official end on 6 April, after thirty-seven days, although large parts of the country would end up having no coal for fully six weeks.


As a result of the strike, much shipping had been laid up and many schedules abandoned because there had been no fresh stock for empty bunkers. In Belfast, coal from other ships had been laboriously dug out and transferred to the Titanic’s cavernous repositories to enable her to make the trip to Southampton.6 Much of this cannibalised coal was Welsh, of various grades; Scottish coal was also used. The Scottish stuff was inferior, with a value of 14,200 British Thermal Units to the Welsh coal’s power of 16,000. It meant that exactly the same weight of the former would produce less output than the latter – and consequently would result in considerably fewer miles sailed. But, as The Irish Times reported from Belfast on 2 April, ‘the stock of best English coal is rapidly approaching vanishing point. The price is listed at 42 shillings, while Scotch is being bought at 35 shillings.’ White Star, galled by the giddy prices of the former, opted for the latter.


A photograph of the Titanic taken the day before her departure from Belfast shows a column of thick black smoke coming from her forward funnel, the pillar of smoke folded over by the wind. The sheer darkness of that pillar indicates either poor quality coal was being burned, or that low-fire furnaces were being overwhelmed with new fodder. The former, of course, is by far the more likely.


In Belfast the Titanic took on 2,600 tons of coal, more than three times enough to get her to Southampton, although she still had enormous spare capacity. Given the final price of 35 shillings, it was clear that there was virtually no coal to be had in Northern Ireland, and the White Star Line must have hoped to do better in southern England.


Despite the severe problems posed by the coal strike, there remained every chance the vessel would be able to meet her scheduled maiden departure on Wednesday 10 April. In fact, the Line would make sure of it, regardless of any inconvenience or disruption.7


A crew of just 280 was aboard when the cold streaks of early morning Tuesday 2 April saw the Titanic glide out of Belfast Lough for her deep-water baptism. After speed trials and various tests, all apparently satisfactory, she made a brief return to her Lagan cradle. Finally, at 8 p.m., the Titanic hoisted anchor and aimed for the Saxon shore.




3


Crossing the Line


Belfast to Southampton


As a substance, coal’s properties are many and various, chief among them instability and unpredictability. The modern mind might revolt at such a notion, but the relative stability of oil and diesel has robbed the collective memory of a time when the mainstay fuel was distinctly dangerous.1


In making comment on the 1912 coal strike, an article in the Fort Wayne Sentinel referenced ‘the problem of storage of coal on a large scale’. It explained that ‘the ages produce coal by crushing decayed vegetable matter under great weight and pressure in the depths of the earth, far from atmosphere. Through some chemical or physical action of the air upon coal that has been taken from the mine, the product generates heat of its own and spontaneous combustion results. This is one of the mysterious forces of nature that has baffled many scientists and engineers. Without the application of any internal heat or inflammatory matter, a pile of coal sometimes will ignite itself and burn with dangerous intensity.’ The article then added: ‘The phenomenon is encountered most frequently at sea. Steamers must store large supplies of coal in their bunkers. The frequent result is bunker fire, caused almost always by spontaneous combustion.’2


Contact between air and the coal is enough to trigger combustion, which initially need not be ‘fire’ as we ordinarily understand it. Dr Guillermo Rein, an expert in thermal energy at Imperial College in London, says there may be no outward sign at all – no fumes, no odour, nothing resembling smoke – yet burning is nonetheless underway. His counterpart in the Titanic’s time, Ozni Porter Hood, chief mechanical engineer at the US Bureau of Mines from 1911 to 1926, pointed out that the area exposed to air by a ton of coal was tremendous: ‘Each lump presents a surface and so does each powdered grain. The normal coal pile is not so tightly packed as to prevent the passage of the oxygen-bearing air through interstices to practically every particle of the coal.’ Hood concluded that there was approximately one acre of surface to every ton of coal, a finding the press labelled ‘astounding’.3


According to Dr Rein: ‘The scary thing about smouldering coal is it doesn’t need an ignition event. It’s spontaneous. It’s self-heating. It doesn’t need an arsonist. It doesn’t need an accident. Just the bed of coal … The kernel of the bed will start to slowly heat up and will continue spreading, until actually over the course of weeks it reaches a very high temperature. So when someone detects a smouldering fire in a big bed of coal, the fire has been going on for days for sure. Weeks, probably. The difficulty is that by the time you get a smell or signs that there is a fire in your bunker, it’s already too late. And it’s really difficult to suppress a smouldering fire.’4


That such a spontaneous coal fire had broken out in one of the towering starboard bunkers of the Titanic – and had done so in Belfast, weeks before the maiden voyage – has been confirmed and corroborated by 1912 evidence, including, for example, the testimony of Charles Oskar Hendrickson, a twenty-eight-year-old fireman, who joined the Titanic at Southampton. ‘The first watch we did from Southampton we started to get it out,’ he said, referring to attempts to suppress what was by then an outright blaze in the bunker.5 It was plain the outbreak stemmed from before he came aboard. Hendrickson declared: ‘I heard it commenced at Belfast.’6 Someone aboard evidently told him as much.


Hendrickson was also asked at the British inquiry into the sinking: ‘Is it a common occurrence for fires to take place on boats?’ He replied, ‘No.’ The question repeated, he again denied it, pointing out that he had been five years in the White Star Line and he ‘never saw one before’.7


A fire that began in Belfast, and in a coal bunker three storeys high – immeasurably higher and deeper than repositories of old – was obviously a dread development, and the crew’s subsequent inability to extinguish it before the ship departed on her maiden voyage was proof, ipso facto, of a serious blaze. It is not surprising, therefore, that after the sinking of the Titanic, White Star was anxious not to encourage any other view but that the fire was discovered only after leaving Southampton, and was not previously known about, no matter what Hendrickson said. The implications of prior knowledge, plus a failure to disclose it to officialdom in Southampton ahead of the Atlantic crossing, did not bear thinking about.


Nonetheless, the company was ultimately forced to acknowledge that the fire had indeed begun in Belfast. The admission would eventually come from the patrician Harold Arthur Sanderson, deputy chairman of the Oceanic Steam Navigation Company, operators of the Line and its fleet. Sanderson succeeded the ill-starred J. Bruce Ismay as chairman when the latter resigned, having controversially survived the foundering of the Titanic.


Aged fifty-one and distinguished by his height, silver hair and a cavalry officer’s moustache, Sanderson came from a long-established shipping family, of ‘traceable Norman roots’.8 Just before attending the third day of the British post-disaster proceedings (an inquiry that was set up as a major public tribunal in response to an ad hoc inquiry by American senators), he was handed a Marconigram, or wireless message, from Ismay, who was then halfway across the Atlantic on the Adriatic. He responded: ‘I am up to my neck in this wretched B of T Inquiry – It looks like going on for weeks’, then added ‘[White Star solicitor John] Furniss is coming to Queenstown to interview Titanic officers, etc., coming up [St George’s] Channel [to Liverpool]. Good luck to us all, and a stout heart for yourself.’ Sanderson himself would not give evidence for another month, but his communication of 7 May with Ismay shows White Star was legally protecting itself from the earliest.9


The Adriatic arrived in Queenstown on Friday 10 May. Furniss was on board as she proceeded from Ireland to England, almost certainly advising Ismay and the surviving Titanic officers on overall strategy and how to conduct themselves when giving evidence.


When Sanderson finally testified, he was shown appropriate deference and was soon flourishing a report from just before the ship sailed, written from Southampton by Captain Smith of the Titanic and dated 10 April. He read from it: ‘I herewith report this ship loaded and ready for sea. The engines and boilers are in good order for the voyage, and all charts and sailing directions up-to-date. Your obedient servant, Edward J. Smith.’10 Sanderson answered nearly 300 questions on his first day in the witness box, all inoffensively asked by Sir John Simon, Solicitor General of the United Kingdom.


On the next day he was tackled in cross-examination by William Harbinson, counsel for some third-class passengers. During this cross-examination it emerged that Sanderson had personally made the delivery trip from Belfast to Southampton. He had been aboard with the skeleton crew.


Clement Edwards, counsel for the Dockers’ Union, who questioned Sander­son next, managed to draw out some key disclosures. He first referred Sanderson to the White Star Line’s own Rule 248 from its operational handbook.11 Under the title ‘Examination of Coal Bunkers’, the rule declared: ‘The respective senior engineers of each watch, before going off duty, must go through the coal bunkers, and note their condition on the log-slate, and should there be any signs of spontaneous combustion taking place, they are at once to report same to the Chief Engineer, who is immediately to notify the Commander. All [affected] coal should, as often as possible, be worked out of the bunkers.’ This was White Star’s own standard procedure. If a bunker fire was underway and detected – and reference to ‘each watch’ meant several inspections of every bunker every day – then it should have been reported at once to Chief Engineer Joseph Bell. He, in turn, would immediately notify Captain Smith.


An appalling vista may have opened in the mind of Harold Sanderson as Clement Edwards then asked: ‘We have had it in evidence there was a fire in one of the bunkers when the Titanic was coming over from Belfast to Southampton?’


Sanderson’s reply was terse: ‘Yes.’


Edwards next asked: ‘Would a copy of the log of the Titanic be taken for the use of the company before she left Southampton?’12 The implication was that the Line would therefore have a record extant of what occurred on the delivery trip, despite the subsequent loss of the ship herself.


‘The Engineers Log from Belfast to Southampton?’ queried Sanderson in what can only be interpreted as playing for time. ‘I presume there would be one, but I do not remember it. It is a very short trip, and perhaps the ordinary regulations might not have been carried out on it.’13 With this, he did not quite answer the original question – whether a copy had been taken off the ship and retained by the company to that very moment.


It is tempting to imagine a pause at this point as it sank in that this emollient bigwig, faced by two unpleasant possibilities, chose to suggest his great enterprise could very well not have complied with ‘ordinary regulations’ and, more to the point, its own internal procedures. Might this have been the lesser of two evils in Sanderson’s eyes?


One thing is clear. The White Star standing rule meant the ship’s high command had to have known about the fire. The implication, then, was of wilful deception at the very highest level, meaning that a government fitness-to-sail inspector was not told of a long-term unextinguished fire.


Mr Edwards persisted with his line of questioning: ‘You cannot tell me whether there was any entry in the log as to the fire?’


‘I could not tell you,’ replied Sanderson, ‘but I know that there was a fire.’14


There it was, then, an important admission. It went beyond strange heat in a storage bunker, or a suspicion of incipient combustion, to an actual fire having been reported on board.


At the inquiry, Sanderson portrayed himself as a disinterested and disengaged passenger on the voyage (despite his shipping company, of which he was a director, taking formal legal possession of this new vessel at the time). This was the same inert posture J. Bruce Ismay would adopt in testimony about the maiden voyage itself.


Sanderson was then asked about when he first learned of the fire he had just described. ‘I heard it at this inquiry first of all,’ the White Star principal maintained, referring to Hendrickson’s evidence. ‘I then sent down to Southampton, and they said, “Yes, there was a small fire.”’15 With this answer, Sanderson confirmed that the Line had known about the blaze on the voyage from Belfast to Southampton (unlike a mere deputy chairman aboard), even as he actively sought to trivialise it.


Commissioner Lord Mersey summed up ‘that there was a fire in this bunker between Belfast and Southampton’, but he did so in the course of long judicial interruptions that threw Edwards off his interrogation, and as the trade union counsel and the bench fenced with each other, Sanderson stayed silent in the box. Eventually Edwards returned to the issue, asking whether the fire in the bunker had been reported to Sanderson ‘independently of anything which might possibly appear in the log?’ The witness, who had indicated no direct knowledge despite his seniority, now said: ‘I have no doubt it was reported to the Superintendent at Southampton.’ He added: ‘It would not have come to my knowledge unless it was important.’16


It may have suited Sanderson to characterise the on-board blaze as small and unimportant, but a report to the White Star Line marine superintendent at Southampton meant it had also been previously reported to the ship’s command in accordance with Rule 248. Thus Chief Engineer Joseph Bell and Captain Edward John Smith must both have known about the existence of a bunker fire on the positioning voyage from Belfast to Southampton and that it was not extinguished before they departed Southampton. The wider duty of such honourable gentlemen, one would think, would have been to make sure the authorities on land were made aware of the outbreak, since those powers were tasked with safeguarding the travelling public. Yet no word on the fire was disclosed.


Towards the end of his evidence Sanderson was again asked if engine-room logs were retained. ‘Certainly they are kept,’ he replied, finally appearing to answer the question of whether the delivery log papers could be produced.17 Their supply would be attended to, the court was given to understand. But no such documents were ever entered into evidence at the inquiry and nothing of the kind is known to exist today.
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An Old Man’s Memory


Trouble in the Stokehold


Joe Mulholland nearly didn’t make the Titanic’s debut onto the shipping lanes of the world. He was the second-last man to sign on for the delivery trip, joining at Belfast on sailing day, 2 April 1912. The seemingly endless new leviathan – she was one-sixth of a mile in length, or 882.5 feet – had actually been due to depart the morning before, April Fool’s Day, but had been delayed by high winds.


Mulholland got his job in the stokehold only because someone else had failed to turn up – John Rowan, a dock labourer from Little York Street, did not appear at the appointed hour. Another no-show was John Gillen, a forty-four-year-old marine fireman from Smithfield in the city. Captain Smith wrote up the paperwork stating that this pair had ‘failed to join’ and Mulholland and Thomas Holland, a stoker from Lancashire, were engaged in their stead.


Joe had hooked the big one. The last ship he had worked on, Troutpool, was 3,281 tons. Titanic was fully fourteen times larger. His story was told on the fiftieth anniversary of the Titanic’s sinking by the Sunday Independent:


Old-time seamen are notoriously superstitious and 79-year-old Joseph Mulholland, of Upton Street, Belfast, who sailed from Belfast in the Titanic on the first leg of her ill-fated maiden voyage, can still recall his feelings as he stoked down in the engine room of the ship which Belfast boasted was ‘unsinkable’.


Silver-haired and vigorous despite his great age and a lifetime at sea, from square-rigged grain ships on the Australian run to White Star liners on the Atlantic, ‘Big Joe’ Mulholland says:


‘There was something about that ship I did not like and I was glad to lift my old bag and bid goodbye to my shipmates, like Hughie Fitzpatrick and Pancake Baker, when she arrived at Southampton. Hughie offered me a job as storekeeper on the trip across the Atlantic, but I did not accept. Hughie was lost when she hit the iceberg, but Pancake was picked up and I met him years later at La Plata.’


Big Joe is still fond of cats and perhaps he has reason. He recalls that on his way down to the Titanic before she set sail from Belfast with bands playing and crowds cheering, he took pity on a stray cat which was about to have kittens. He brought the cat aboard and put her in a wooden box down in the stokehold.


At Southampton, when ruminating whether to take on the job of storekeeper on the trip or sign off, another seaman called him over and said: ‘Look Big Joe. There’s your cat taking its kittens down the gangplank.’


Joe said, ‘That settled it. I went and got my bag and that’s the last I saw of the Titanic.’


But there was plenty of drama on the journey down the Irish Sea as the great ship – the pride of the Belfast shipyard – headed for Southampton to take on board its complement of passengers, a cross-section of the social registers of England and America.


In Belfast in those days it was hard to get an experienced stokehold staff. Joe Mulholland said they scoured the Salvation Army hostel, the dockside and eventually got together a scratch team ranging from milkmen to dockers.


‘I had to mind six stokeholds, and the Chief Engineer [Joseph Bell] told me to get the men to break up the big clinkers [lumps of impure residue]. I told them, but they must have lifted up the covers and kicked the clinkers down and affected the hydraulic pumps because the seas came back [in] and we were soon standing up to our thighs in water.


‘A young whipper-snapper of an engineer came galloping up and gave off something shocking. We got the water away, but I did not fancy that young fellow.’


Joe recalls a meeting in the engine room with Thomas Andrews, the designer of the ship, director of Harland and Wolff, and a member of the noted Comber [Co. Down] family.


‘I knew Mr Andrews because I often stoked ships on their trials after they were launched at Belfast. He came down to me and pointed to some insulting slogans about the Pope chalked up on the smoke-box. Some of them were filthy and I had already heard about similar slogans which had been painted on the hull before the Titanic was launched.


‘Mr Andrews said, “Do you know anything about these slogans?” I did not, so he said, “They are disgusting,” went off and returned with some sailors and had them removed. Mr Andrews was a very decent man. He went down with the ship.’


Joe has his own theory about the disaster. ‘I was never in deep water in a White Star liner that we were not trying to win the blue riband for speed. That was the cause of the disaster. They were on a northerly course to break the record for the Atlantic crossing.


‘Any seaman can smell the ice from miles away, but instead of changing course south they kept on and hit that berg. The blue riband was the cause of the disaster and all those folk losing their lives.’1


Old Joe was taken to see the premiere of the film A Night to Remember because he helped James [sic] MacQuitty and his advisers with details for the production. He sat in the front row with the Belfast Lord Mayor.


What did he think of the film? ‘Not much,’ he said. ‘It would make all the old sailors turn in their graves. The tiny crew they showed in the engine room would remind you of a coal boat.’2


Mulholland neglects to mention a bunker fire. It would later be shown that this had broken out in boiler room 6, the most forward stokehold space in the vessel. It may be that he was concerned only with his own compartment, which could have been located much further aft. But whether or not Mulholland knew of its existence (or had simply forgotten it in the half-century since), the bunker fire did exist, as confirmed not only at the inquiries, but also in press interviews with the surviving Titanic firemen in New York, even if news of it had been withheld from two Board of Trade inspectors and from passengers on the maiden voyage.


We must be grateful for what Mulholland did recall. He is the only fire­man to describe in vivid detail this leg of navigation through the Irish Sea. His overall tenor punctures inflated and enduring notions of the Titanic as some perfect prow knifing through the waves, puffed up by White Star publicity as that image may have been.


‘There was something about that ship I did not like,’ says Mulholland mysteriously, while making revealing remarks elsewhere in his story. Others on board would soon make similar remarks, hinting at underlying doubts.


Of the two shipmates, Hughie Fitzpatrick and Pancake Baker, that Big Joe bade goodbye to at Southampton, Fitzpatrick would be lost within a fortnight in the chill, still North Atlantic. An exact contemporary of Mulholland, from a neighbouring street, he left a young wife pregnant with their first child. Also doomed to shipwreck and death from hypothermia was the full complement of twelve men who served aboard the Titanic for New York as junior storekeepers – the job Fitzpatrick had offered Mulholland.


The ‘Pancake’ mentioned by Mulholland in the news article was John Baker, a fireman six months his junior. He did not have to be saved because he, too, disembarked at Southampton, even if that fact was unknown to Big Joe at the time. Baker was thus not on the maiden voyage to be ‘picked up’ during the rescue, as Mulholland suggested in the interview. Baker usually served in the Ulster Steamship Company, also known as the ‘Head Line’ – his previous ship to the Titanic was the Bray Head. He returned to his old employer following his time on the Titanic and visited the port of La Plata (thirty-four miles southeast of Buenos Aires) on both the Dunaff Head and Kenbane Head in the early 1920s, and it was on one of these visits that he once again encountered Mulholland.3


The stray feline about to have kittens that Mulholland took pity on and brought aboard (he was photographed cradling a cat in the 1962 article) was mentioned by Titanic stewardess survivor Violet Jessop in her memoirs.4 She claimed the cat’s name was Jenny – Mulholland’s later seaman’s card shows that he sported a tattoo declaring ‘Jennie’, whereas his wife’s name was Sarah. It would be nice to think that he perhaps had it inked to commemorate the life-saving mouser.


The blocked pumps and the seawater coming into the boiler room is an uncorroborated story from Mulholland, but does lead on to important elements, while causing a worry over the ability to expel water during the flooding that was to come. His row with the ‘whipper-snapper’ engineer finds another echo in the record, albeit again from Mulholland himself. Four years earlier, in 1958, he had mentioned the quarrel to Belfast-born film producer William MacQuitty during the making of A Night to Remember. A snippet quoting Mulholland appears in an outsize publicity book compiled for the press.5 Joe says: ‘I had a dispute with an engineer officer and I took my bag out of her at Southampton.’ Twice Mulholland refers to the engineer being ‘young’, although only a few were younger than he, the youngest being twenty-two-year-old junior sixth William McReynolds. The engineers, notably, were drowned to a man.


The story about Thomas Andrews, whose humanity was legendary, and the offensive slogans has the ring of truth. However, if the Harland & Wolff chief was indeed down in the boiler rooms during the leg to Southampton, then it seems likely that he would have known about the condition of the bunker in boiler room 6 (if Smith and Bell knew about it, so must he as chief designer). Indeed he could have been passing through Mulholland’s boiler room towards it when he noticed the graffiti (a shipyard photograph shows the milder ‘No Home Rule’ chalked on the Titanic’s hull before her launch). After all, there must have been a reason for Andrews’ sudden manifestation at the bottom of the vessel.


Now to the ‘clinkers’ that Mulholland references – of which poor quality coal produces many. Clinkers are brittle shards that do not burn because they are the product of impurities. These glazed formations, which are basically lumps of vitrified ash, have to be removed from the furnaces. The literature says that poor quality coal produces lots of clinkers, just as there are fewer impurities and better burning in the best. The Titanic’s coal generated big clinkers that were hard to break and dispose of, and according to Mulholland, these clinkers eventually affected the pumps.


We thus have primary eyewitness evidence that the Titanic was burning poor quality coal on this run, likely as a result of taking on the stock of other vessels in her native city. Poor quality equals less propulsion and therefore less distance travelled per ton of coal.


It’s all consistent with the Line’s readiness to accept an inferior crew, also alluded to by Mulholland, as if on a ‘needs must’ basis. With or without the bunker fire, his unvarnished and candid account of the trip to the English south coast makes being aboard the Titanic sound distinctly unpleasant, with a worse-than-usual gulf between those in command and the sweat-salted singlets who found themselves literally working at the bottom of the heap.


* * *


The Titanic cancelled a stop at her home port of Liverpool en route to Southampton (whereas her sister ship Olympic had been open for public inspection on Merseyside during her own debut), the decision supposedly the result of a weather delay at Belfast, or so it was said at the time.6 There are indications that she kept close to the coast of Ireland in her transit of the Irish Sea, well away from England and Wales, before making a late diagonal run to the southeast.


The Belfast News-Letter, the oldest daily paper in the world, was keeping a close eye on her progress. It reported she ‘made a good run’, passing Land’s End at 12.30 p.m. on 3 April. That same afternoon the Cornishman reported: ‘Considerable interest was aroused in Penzance on Wednesday in a remarkably fine steamer observed crossing the Bay. She proved to be the White Star liner Titanic, on her way from Belfast to Southampton.’ The next paragraph might have merited some pause for thought: ‘The Titanic shaped a course considerably nearer the land than that usually taken by liners, and, as the day was fine, a good view of her was observed.’


Why was Captain Smith hugging the coast in what was plainly stated to be an unusual course of action? What could have prompted him to want the land so close to hand?


The new vessel arrived in Southampton in darkness, having covered over 530 nautical miles in twenty-eight hours, at an average speed of smarter than 19 knots. She was ‘safely moored in one of the Southampton docks’ at midnight, as a handwritten note on the crew agreement declared. It also mandated: ‘Firemen to clean down after arrival, as may be required.’7
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The Last Word


Unfinished


The Titanic was ‘the last word in shipbuilding’. The newspapers all said so after her launch in Belfast, heavily prompted by White Star publicity agents, and they dutifully continued to use the phrase as her service debut neared. American press correspondent Ernest Townley sampled her salons at Southampton on sailing day itself – and, for readers on the other side of the Atlantic, pro­nounced the Titanic ‘assuredly the last word in comfort and luxury’.1 Second-class passenger Lawrence Beesley, whose book about the voyage was published in 1912, wrote: ‘The machinery and equipment of the Titanic was the finest obtainable and represented the last word in marine construction.’2 A surgeon from her sister ship Olympic, Dr J. C. H. Beaumont, called her in his memoirs ‘the last word in engineering’.3 And the Cork Constitution, on the day before the disaster, applied this phrase to the food on offer: ‘the kitchens represent the last word’. Even Francis Browne SJ – who took wonderful photographs on the maiden voyage, but who had the good sense to get off in Queenstown (after being ordered to do so by his religious order) – called her ‘the last word in marine architecture’.4


But being the ‘last word’ did not mean she was a completed creation. In fact, she was far from finished. If the plain truth is told, it had been a rush to get her even approximately ready. Proof lies in a photograph taken at Easter 1912 in Southampton, as the ship awaited her maiden voyage: in it, a party of men, lowered on rope platforms, are tending to her aft port quarter, apparently touching up the ship’s paint. A similar photograph, also taken over the holiday – when overtime might have commanded a premium price – shows workers harnessed by guy wires applying fresh coats to the giant funnels.


The temporary chief officer of the Titanic, William McMaster Murdoch (he would step down to first officer on sailing day), admitted unreadiness in a letter to his sister, penned on the ship’s stationery on 8 April 1912. Murdoch wrote: ‘The holidays are on down here, and it takes me all my time to get men to work, even at overtime rates, but we are nearly ready for the road.’5


The previous day Henry Tingle Wilde, the man who would replace Murdoch as chief officer, boarded the vessel and he wrote to his family on Resurrection Sunday: ‘I am on the Titanic but not sure I am sailing on her yet … I have been kept very busy on board all day on Good Friday and again today Sunday with the crew getting the ship ready. She is very far behind to sail on Wednesday. Working on her night and day.’6


Because the ship was unfinished – workmen arriving on board at Southampton noticed paint on the lockers was still wet – the White Star Line decided it could not open her to public viewing, as had been popularly expected. Even before her arrival, the Southampton Times of 30 March sulked that ‘sightseers need not apply’. Even so, spectators came. The town’s Pictorial reported: ‘Though the Titanic, the world’s last word in shipbuilding construction has not been open to inspection by the general public since her arrival from Belfast, hundreds of sightseers have visited the docks to catch a glimpse of the leviathan as she lies moored.’7


One civilian who managed to be shown around was the sister of Second Officer David Blair, who was about to transfer to another vessel. Blair’s daughter, Nancy, recalled: ‘Aunt told me years later my father took her on a tour of the ship the day before she sailed. This took several hours and the ship was still a hive of activity, with carpets still being laid and decorators busy until the last moment.’8


Storekeeper survivor Frank Prentice bluntly declared in 1978: ‘She was rushed through, not ready for [the] sea.’9


George Beedem, a steward, was feeling defeat at the pressure of work as the date for departing Southampton neared. He wrote to his loved ones: ‘This is the last night and thank goodness we are off tomorrow. I shall never do another week as long like I have this one … I have no news to tell you, only the last three days I’ve felt rotten and what with no dusters, or anything to work with, I wish the bally ship at the bottom of the sea.’10


Similar scenes had been observed in her last few days at Belfast. On 6 April a photo was published of the Titanic’s stern.11 In front, on the dock, was a dray cart loaded with ‘numerous carpenters’ chests’ and a higgledy-piggledy heap of furniture. ‘A scene of great activity was witnessed at the Deep Water Wharf, Belfast, on Monday morning, when quite an army of workmen, who for some considerable time past had been busily employed in fitting out the new White Star leviathan Titanic, came ashore with their tools,’ it was reported. ‘Several lorries were requisitioned to carry these outfits back to the yard, and several others were laden with trestles and other impedimenta [tools and other items] which had been used in completing the ship.’ Clearly, it had been an almighty scramble getting her even approximately ready.


Will Jeffery, twenty-eight-year-old bookkeeper in the à la carte restaurant, wrote to his mother from Belfast of the ‘worry around trying to get various necessary jobs done. Until the workmen are out of the way we can’t touch anything.’ Jeffery died in the sinking, but his letter serves as another indication that the Titanic was in a race against time to be ready before she left her birthplace.12


Senior surviving officer Charles Lightoller testified that the Titanic had not steamed straight to Southampton after sea trials in Belfast Lough, but had returned to the Lagan. Fifth Officer Harold Lowe told the US inquiry the vessel was there anchored for half or three-quarters of an hour and that ‘We sent all workmen ashore by tender to Belfast.’13 She then put out to sea again, Lightoller said, ‘after taking on board a few things that had been left behind, which were required for the completion of the ship’. He gave a couple of examples to the American inquiry: ‘requisites down in the galley, cooking apparatus, a few chairs, and such things as that’.14


Lightoller observed in his memoirs: ‘Putting a new ship in commission is, at the best of times, a pretty strenuous job. With the Titanic, it was night and day work, organising here, receiving stores there, arranging duties, trying and testing out different contrivances, (and) makers of the hundred and one instruments with chits to be signed certifying that this, that, and the other was in perfect working order.’15


A striking account was given by fireman John Thompson in the wake of the disaster. He referred specifically to a ‘rush job’ readying the ship.16 ‘Thompson said many workmen – electrical fitters, plumbers, carpenters and machinists – who had been taken on board at Belfast were let off at Queenstown, where the Titanic last touched,’ said the New York Sun, referring to the ship’s final port of call in Ireland. ‘The fireman didn’t know how many of these there were, but he said there must have been close to 100. “We heard that there hadn’t been time to complete the ship before taking her out and that the line made a rush job of it between Belfast and Southampton. I don’t know whether anything vital, like the working of the watertight compartments, was left to the last minute.”’


This last remark insinuates something alarming. Although there has been a blanket assumption in modern times that the electrically operated watertight doors worked perfectly on the Titanic when the accident occurred – Lightoller said so, after all – as we have already seen in the previous chapter the hydraulic pumps did not cope with clinkers on the delivery trip to Southampton.17 Might there have been an issue with the watertight doors, too?


How the watertight doors and compartments operated was explained in a puff piece about the new liner in the Cork Constitution on Saturday 13 April – the eve of their being put on trial in a real emergency. A long description of the vessel occupied page four and, under a crosshead that read ‘Practically Unsinkable’, the reading public was assured: ‘The Titanic is as complete in her safety devices as in her luxurious outfit. She is divided into upwards of 30 steel compartments separated by heavy bulkheads. An automatic device on the bridge controls all these heavy steel doors, making it possible for a single hand to close them all in case of danger. The priceless time conserved in closing them in case of accident may thus be saved. Each of these doors in turn is electrically connected with a chart on the bridge, where each floor is represented by a small electric light. When one of these doors closes the light will burn red; while it remains open it will remain dark. The officer on the bridge will thus be able to see at a glance if all the compartments are closed.’


The point of the puff piece was to assert, despite all evidence to the contrary, that the Titanic was indeed the finished article and ‘as complete in her safety devices as in her luxurious outfit’. When one part of this equation – the outfit – was obviously lacking, what confidence can be reposed in the other? Was everything really in perfect order, as Second Officer Lightoller claimed?


Fireman Thompson had his doubts, and he was not the only one, specifically in regard to the watertight doors. A letter surfaced at auction in 2008, written home in the wake of the tragedy by Titanic lookout Archie Jewell. He confessed: ‘If the watertight doors had worked she would not have went [sic] down.’18First-class passenger Elmer Zebley Taylor, a chemical engineer, wrote in his 1949 memoirs: ‘There were steel doors in these bulkheads that could be opened or closed at will from the navigator’s quarters on the bridge. I recall explaining to Williams [his companion, first-class passenger Fletcher Williams] how the gears, levers and gadgets of these doors operated from the bridge. A sailor who heard the conversation stepped up and said, “Sir, you are right for the most part, but this door has not been connected. They did not have time to complete all the work before we sailed.”’19


There is a yawning gap of thirty-seven years between the accounts of crewmen Thompson and Jewell, and passenger Taylor. Yet no gap separated Thompson’s Sun interview and the recording of a startling remark made by Taylor’s fellow passenger Fletcher Williams, as reported in the New York Herald. It came second-hand. Williams was named by the Countess of Rothes as hastening to her after the collision to exclaim frantically: ‘The watertight compartments must surely hold!’20


Perhaps what Williams had heard about the incomplete work and the unconnected door had been preying on his mind. He was forty-three (Taylor was forty-eight) – hardly an impressionable ingénue likely to be taken in by a sailor’s tall tale. Unfortunately he could never corroborate Taylor’s disturbing account.21 Fletcher Williams died in the sinking.


Many other passengers on the maiden voyage decidedly did not think that Titanic was the acme of perfection, and were ready to complain about it afterwards. One, Imanita Shelley, went aboard at Southampton with her mother, Lutie, thinking they had bought ‘the best second-class accommodation sold by said company’. Instead, they were taken to ‘a cell’. It took eleven trips to the purser (the officer in charge of passenger needs) to secure transfer to another room, she said in her affidavit to the American inquiry.22 This new cabin ‘looked in a half-finished condition … just as cold as the cell from which we had been removed … as the heating system for the second class cabins refused to work’. Her mother ‘was obliged to go to bed to keep warm’ as the rooms were ‘like ice houses’ (an unfortunate phrase).
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